Appeal No. 24-CO-362



DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

Clerk of the Court Received 07/12/2024 09:37 PM Filed 07/12/2024 09:37 PM

TONY MCCLAM,

Appellant,

v.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Appellee.

Appeal from the Superior Court of the District of Columbia Criminal Division

BRIEF FOR APPELLANT

SAMIA FAM

JACLYN S. FRANKFURT

*DANIEL GONEN

PUBLIC DEFENDER SERVICE 633 3rd Street, NW Washington, DC 20001 (202) 628-1200

*Counsel for Oral Argument

DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

ISSUE PRESENTED

Where "duplicitous" counts of the indictment present two factually distinct criminal offenses, and the trial judge offers to cure any prejudice to the defense by giving a special-unanimity instruction that would permit the government to present all charges to the jury, but the government instead elects—after jeopardy has attached—to pursue only one charge for each duplicitous count, does the Double Jeopardy Clause bar a retrial of the unelected offenses?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND JURISDICTION

On December 9, 2019, Mr. McClam was charged with first-degree premeditated murder while armed against a minor with aggravating circumstances, D.C. Code §§ 22-2101, 4502, 3611, 2104.01(b)(10); two counts of assault with intent to kill (AWIK) while armed, *id.* §§ 22-401, 4502; three counts of possessing a firearm during a crime of violence (PFCV), *id.* § 22-4504(b); and carrying a pistol without a license (CPWL), *id.* § 22-4504(a). R. 191-93 (Indictment pp. 1-3).

A jury trial commenced before the Honorable Neal Kravitz on December 6, 2021. On January 12, 2022, the jury acquitted Mr. McClam of first-degree murder, found him guilty of CPWL, and was deadlocked on second-degree murder (as a lesser-included offense), the AWIKs, and the PFCVs. 1/12/22 Tr. 36-37. A mistrial was declared for the charges on which the jury could not agree. *Id.* at 41.

On March 15, 2024, the Honorable Michael O'Keefe denied Mr. McClam's motion to preclude, under the Double Jeopardy Clause, retrial of charges that the government elected not to pursue after jeopardy had attached at the first trial. 3/15/24 Tr. 14-17. Mr. McClam timely noted an appeal on April 10, 2024.

Because this appeal raises a colorable double-jeopardy claim, the Court has jurisdiction under the collateral-order doctrine. *See Abney v. United States*, 431 U.S. 651, 662-63 (1977); *Jones v. United States*, 669 A.2d 724, 728 (D.C. 1995).¹

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. <u>The evidence at trial</u>

The two shootings in this case happened in a triangle formed by Naylor Road, SE (on the west), Good Hope Road, SE (on the north, later renamed Marion Barry Avenue), and Alabama Avenue, SE (on the east). The shootings and surrounding events were largely captured by surveillance cameras. Only two eyewitnesses testified—Mr. McClam and Kamaal Porter-Greene, the complaining witness for one of the AWIK counts.²

1. The Naylor Road shooting

On July 18, 2019, Mr. McClam was walking home from the McDonald's parking lot on Good Hope Road with a group of children including his 8-year-old stepson, A., two other boys, and their father, Tae. 12/16/21 Tr. 61-62, 66-67.

As they were about to cross Naylor Road, a Nissan Sentra suddenly stopped in the middle of the street—not at an intersection, and despite a green light and no cars ahead—blocking Mr. McClam's group's path. *See id.* at 67-68; 12/7/21 Tr. 30.

¹ This Court denied the government's motion to dismiss the appeal for lack of jurisdiction, but deferred resolution of whether this appeal fell under the collateralorder doctrine. *See* Order, May 8, 2024, at 1. For the reasons explained below why Mr. McClam's double-jeopardy claim is meritorious, it is colorable.

² The other AWIK complaining witness, Rodre Holloway, was in the front passenger seat of Mr. Porter-Greene's car; Mr. Holloway did not testify at trial.

Mr. McClam tried to walk around the car, but the driver was "angry" and loudly yelling out the window. 12/16/21 Tr. 67-68. The driver said something like, "you all like to put you all hands on F'ing kids or you all like to put you all hand on my nephew or something in that category." *Id.* at 68. Mr. McClam responded that he didn't put his hand on any kids. *Id.* at 69. The driver responded "oh, yeah, oh, yeah" and started reaching for what Mr. McClam thought was a gun. *Id.* at 70-71.

Mr. McClam, afraid that he or the children were about to be shot, then reached for his own gun, which he had lawfully purchased and regularly kept in his fanny pack because he was scared of moving back to a dangerous neighborhood in Southeast D.C. *Id.* at 72; 12/6/21 Tr. 114, 118-21; 12/7/21 Tr. 67; 12/8/21 Tr. 56-58, 60. As the car sped off, Mr. McClam believed a drive-by shooting was about to happen.³ 12/16/21 Tr. 26-27, 72-73. Video shows Mr. McClam pushed the children back and shot twice at the car, as it turned right onto Good Hope Road. *Id.* at 74, 85. He did not know if either shot hit the car. *Id.* at 85.

Mr. McClam believed the car was gone and not coming back. *Id.* at 89, 121. He and his group ran along their usual route through the BP gas station to Alabama Avenue, intending to go home. *Id.* at 52, 67, 86.

³ Mr. McClam was particularly afraid in those moments because he feared he was being targeted for "snitch[ing]." 1/5/22 Tr. 49. Mr. McClam assisted police investigating his brother's murder, including by identifying a suspect and testifying in the grand jury. *See* 12/16/21 Tr. 79-82; *see also* 12/15/21 Tr. 141-45.

2. The Alabama Avenue shooting

Unbeknownst to Mr. McClam,⁴ the Sentra was not gone. After turning right on Good Hope Road, the Sentra could have continued to the left onto Alabama Avenue, away from Mr. McClam. Instead, the Sentra turned *right* (from the *left*-turn only lane) onto Alabama Avenue. 12/7/21 Tr. 19, 31-32. This completed a roughly 180-degree turn that had it headed right back into the path of Mr. McClam and his group. The Sentra initially slowed, but then accelerated toward them. 12/13/21 Tr. 59-61. Tae said, "oh, s***, there go that car again." 12/16/21 Tr. 26, 86.

Seeing the same Sentra speeding toward him and the group, Mr. McClam believed the car would either hit them or the driver or front-seat passenger would shoot them. *Id.* at 88. Mr. McClam shot four times as the Sentra abruptly turned left and sped through the parking lot of a Safeway across Alabama Avenue. *Id.* at 86-87, 121-22. As before, Mr. McClam did not know if he hit the car. *Id.* at 94.

3. The aftermath

The Sentra was hit twice in the rear, from the right. *See* 12/14/21 Tr. 124-26, 137, 145-46, 148. One of the shots hit K.B., an 11-year-old child, who was in the backseat. 12/7/21 Tr. 119; 12/15/21 Tr. 82, 96. The driver, Mr. Porter-Greene, did not realize that K.B. was shot until after the second shooting on Alabama Avenue. 12/13/21 Tr. 188-89. He heard sounds consistent with the car being hit by a bullet at both locations. *See id.* at 178, 185. Based on the angles, the government contended that the fatal shot was "almost certainly" fired on Naylor Road. *E.g.*, 12/17/21 Tr. 6.

⁴ It is undisputed that Mr. McClam had his back turned to Good Hope Road as he headed home, and did not see the Sentra's next turn. *See* 12/20/21 Tr. 11-13, 44.

Mr. McClam, who was legally blind in his left eye and had poor vision in his right eye, 12/9/21 Tr. 56; 12/16/21 Tr. 36, testified that he never saw anyone in the backseat and had no idea a child was in the car, 12/16/21 Tr. 27, 77. Video shown by the defense confirmed that no one was visible in the backseat as the car drove down Naylor Road, suggesting that K.B. ducked his head down. 1/4/22 Tr. 99-101.

Mr. McClam's then-girlfriend, Aundrea Reed, testified as a government witness. She said that Mr. McClam came home out of breath, upset, and distraught. 12/9/21 Tr. 64. She testified that Mr. McClam immediately told her, corroborating his trial testimony, that he had to start shooting because he was "terrified" when a car pulled up on him and the kids, and the driver was reaching down aggressively and threatening them. *Id.* at 65, 68-70.

4. <u>The government's theory</u>

The government contended that Mr. McClam deliberately targeted and intended to kill K.B., a stranger, knowing that he was in the Sentra. The purported motive was a brief interaction between Mr. McClam's group and K.B. in the McDonald's parking lot. In that encounter, one of Tae's sons punched K.B., mistaking him for one of the bullies that had been antagonizing A. and his friends. 12/16/21 Tr. 55-58, 64. K.B. then ran off. *Id.* at 64. No one chased him. *Id.* at 66; 12/13/21 Tr. 234-35; 12/14/21 Tr. 17, 24

The driver of the Sentra, Mr. Porter-Greene—who did not know Mr. McClam, K.B., or anyone else involved—happened to be driving past the McDonald's. He testified that he "believe[d]"—though he was not certain because he was focused on driving—that he saw a "grown man" (he could not say which) strike K.B.⁵ 12/13/21 Tr. 152-54. Mr. Porter-Greene sped down Naylor Road to make sure this unknown child was okay, encountered him a block away, and agreed to drive K.B. home. *Id.* at 156, 158-60, 162, 234-36; 12/14/21 Tr. 17-18, 22-25. From the McDonald's parking lot, Mr. McClam could not have seen K.B. get into the Sentra a block away. *See* 12/6/21 Tr. 139-41.

According to Mr. Porter-Greene, he ended up encountering Mr. McClam both on Naylor Road and Alabama Avenue inadvertently, through a series of wrong turns and coincidences. *See* 12/13/21 Tr. 162, 164; 12/14/21 Tr. 26, 31-32, 55-57. Mr. Porter-Greene denied having any interaction with Mr. McClam or the group when he stopped in the middle of Naylor Road before the shooting. 12/13/21 Tr. 176-77.

B. <u>The litigation during the first trial over duplicity and unanimity</u>

The government, as it revealed during trial, internally deliberated whether to charge the Naylor Road and Alabama Avenue shootings as separate incidents, supporting separate charges. *See* 12/17/21 Tr. 7-8, 30. Although the government saw it as a "close issue," it ultimately decided not to charge them separately. *Id.* at 30.

However, that charging decision was not revealed to the defense until the end of trial; before that point, the government litigated the case as if *only* the Naylor Road shooting was charged. The initial charging documents, the preliminary hearing, the government's pretrial pleadings, and its opening statement at trial all

⁵ The government did not endorse this uncertain testimony that an adult struck K.B. In closing, the government argued that K.B was "confronted and *almost* hit by *one of the people* in [Mr. McClam's] group." 1/4/22 Tr. 79 (emphases added).

identified the location of the murder as Naylor Road. *See, e.g.*, 9/4/19 Tr. 186-88, 204; 11/23/21 Tr. 15-16, 23; 12/6/21 Tr. 54; R. 120 (Aff. in Support of Arrest Warrant p.1); R. 1733 (Opp'n to Def.'s Mot. to Suppress Stmts. Made on July 18, 2019 p. 2). The government also filed a pretrial notice of "other crimes" evidence informing the defense (or at least strongly implying) that the Alabama Avenue shooting was uncharged misconduct. R. 296-97 (Supp. Notice Re *Drew/Johnson* Evidence pp. 1-2).⁶

After all the testimony was in, defense counsel explained that he would be requesting a jury instruction that the jury could convict Mr. McClam of murder only if it unanimously agreed that the fatal shot was fired on Naylor Road. 12/16/21 Tr. 213; *see also id.* at 216-17. Counsel explained that he had structured the defense case to establish that the fatal shot was fired on Alabama Avenue, which he believed was uncharged. *Id.* at 212-13.

The following day, the government asserted—for the very first time—that the jury could convict Mr. McClam of murder based on *either* the Naylor Road shooting *or* the Alabama Avenue shooting. *See* 12/17/21 Tr. 24. Moreover, the government argued that the jury could convict Mr. McClam even if it disagreed on which shooting resulted in the death—a result that would permit a guilty verdict even if

⁶ During trial, the government revealed that it had deliberately made the notice ambiguous as to *which* shooting was charged and which was uncharged. *See* 12/17/21 6-8. But the government admitted that its notice indicated that *one* of the two shootings was uncharged. *See id*. And in light of the government's consistent assertions, including in the notice itself, that the murder "almost certainly" occurred on Naylor Road, the Alabama Avenue shooting had to be the uncharged one. R. 296-97 (Supp. Notice Re *Drew/Johnson* Evidence pp. 1-2).

some jurors believed that he acted in self-defense on Naylor Road, while others believed he acted in self-defense on Alabama Avenue. *See id.* at 21-22.

The defense argued that, if both shootings were charged, then the counts were "duplicitous." Each count charging murder and AWIK contained a pair of distinct criminal charges—one for Naylor Road and one for Alabama Avenue. *See id.* at 5-6, 31-32. The defense argued that this duplicity could be cured by limiting the government to the charges arising from the Naylor Road shooting, in accordance with the government's consistent pretrial representations. *See id.* at 18-20. The defense also argued that permitting a verdict based on the two shootings combined was inconsistent with the requirement of juror unanimity. *See id.* at 14-17.

In resolving whether the indictment was duplicitous and whether the jurors had to unanimously agree that a particular shooting constituted each crime, the parties and Judge Kravitz agreed that the ultimate question was whether the Naylor Road shooting and the Alabama Avenue shooting were separate criminal incidents. *See, e.g., id.* at 24-34, 40-44.

1. Judge Kravitz finds that the shootings are separated by a fork in the road.

After additional briefing from the parties, everyone agreed that the controlling legal standard was whether the shootings were separated by a "fork in the road" or a "fresh impulse." *See* 12/20/21 Tr. 23, 25, 43-44, 47; R. 2514-16 (Mem. Re Site of Fatal Shot pp. 16-18); R. 2520-22 (Gov. Mem. Re Unanimity Instr. pp. 2-4). And everyone agreed that Judge Kravitz should make that factual determination.

Under that standard, the defense argued that there were separate offenses. After the first shooting, Mr. McClam believed that the incident was over, and he and the Sentra were headed in roughly opposite directions, at least initially, with Mr. McClam heading southeast to his home, while the Sentra appeared to be headed northeast on Alabama Avenue; when the Sentra unexpectedly reencountered Mr. McClam soon after, the interaction was a separate incident motivated by a separate impulse. *See, e.g.*, 12/17/21 Tr. 31-32. The government argued, however, that Mr. McClam kept his gun in his hand after the Naylor Road shooting, suggesting that he intended to chase the Sentra and continue his alleged assault on it. 12/20/21 Tr. 43-44; R. 2525 (Gov. Mem. Re Unanimity Instr. p. 7).

Applying the undisputed legal standard, Judge Kravitz carefully reviewed the evidence he had heard at trial. He found that Mr. McClam "not only didn't chase after the Sentra" after the Naylor Road shooting, "but didn't even kind of run in a way that could be perceived as tracking or even following where it was going." 12/20/21 Tr. 89. Mr. McClam "rather, was pretty clearly going toward his home to get away from this confrontation." *Id.*

Judge Kravitz continued: "I conclude that these two incidents—and by 'two incidents,' I'm referring to the shooting incident on Naylor Road and the shooting incident on Alabama Avenue—are factually separate." *Id.* at 90. "[T]he first act, the shooting on Naylor Road, *had come to an end*, and Mr. McClam was *on his way home* when the next act, the shooting on Alabama Avenue, was motivated by a *fresh impulse*; that being the reaction to—Mr. McClam's reaction to seeing the Sentra driving toward him on Alabama Avenue." *Id.* (emphases added).

Based on these findings, Judge Kravitz agreed "that this is a duplicitous indictment." *Id.* at 124. But Judge Kravitz refused to require the government to elect

one offense per duplicitous count. *See id.* Instead, he decided to cure any prejudice to the defense with a special-unanimity instruction, requiring the jury to unanimously agree for each charged offense that it was based on the conduct on either Naylor Road or Alabama Avenue. *See id.* at 91-93. He explained, "The case law certainly suggests that while an election by the government is one way to remedy a duplicitous indictment, it's not the only way. A special unanimity instruction is another way. And that's what I'm going to give." *Id.* at 124.

2. <u>The government makes an election</u>

Despite Judge Kravitz's ruling that he would not require an election, the government announced it would elect to "argue that the AWIKs happened on Alabama Avenue," due to the fact that "the case law about concurrent intent talks about barrage of gunfire, and I think with four shots we're on safer ground than with two." 12/20/21 Tr. 107. The government then said it would pursue only the homicide charge arising from the Naylor Road shooting, and would not ask the jury to find Mr. McClam guilty of homicide for the Alabama Avenue shooting. *Id.* at 116.

Judge Kravitz asked the prosecutor if he understood that he was "permitted" to present murder charges at both locations, and the prosecutor confirmed, "I do. I do understand that." *Id.* at 116. But rather than concede any uncertainty, he felt he was "on stronger ground if I tell them or argue that the fatal shot was fired on Naylor Road." *Id.* at 117.

Judge Kravitz noted that the government, to his "surprise," was "going to make the election now, *although not required to make it*, and argue that the murder happened on Naylor Road and that the AWIKs happened on Alabama Avenue." *Id*.

at 124-25 (emphasis added). The government registered no objection to this finding.

The next day, the government confirmed that there was no need for a specialverdict form, which would have had the jury specify whether the verdict for each offense was based on Naylor Road or Alabama Avenue, because it was electing to pursue only one charge per duplicitous count. *See* 12/21/21 Tr. 21, 23-24.

The following day, Judge Kravitz denied a related defense motion, which had argued that permitting the government to pursue charges from the Alabama Avenue shooting would be a constructive amendment of the indictment. *See* 12/22/21 Tr. 5-6. That motion was based on the defense's belief that the grand jury had never been asked to find probable cause for any charges from that separate shooting. *See* R. 2501-2510 (Mem. Re Site of Fatal Shot pp. 3-12). However, in the ensuing discussion, Judge Kravitz expressed come "concern[]" that, based on the prosecutor's recollection of what he told the grand jury, there might be the potential for a constructive amendment of the indictment. 12/22/21 Tr. 14-16. Judge Kravitz asked the government to provide him with the transcript of the prosecutor's instructions to the grand jury as soon as possible. *Id.* at 17-18. Judge Kravitz again suggested that a special-unanimity instruction with a special-verdict form could avoid any potential issue about the constructive amendment. *Id.* at 16.

When the parties reconvened after a twelve-day break, the government still did not have the grand-jury transcript. 1/3/22 Tr. 16-20. The prosecutor's own recollection was that he *only* argued in the grand jury that the murder was on Naylor Road, but urged Judge Kravitz to find that the defense waived the issue by failing to move to dismiss the indictment before trial. *Id.* at 22, 24. Judge Kravitz believed it

would be a "big mistake" to find that the defense waived the issue given the history of the case and the course of the litigation. *Id.* at 26.

Nevertheless, Judge Kravitz again extended the option of a special-verdict form "to indicate for any guilty verdict which location the jury has determined the crime was committed so that we know." *Id.* Again, he did not rule that there was a constructive amendment; he was merely "hesitating," but did not preclude the government from pursuing any of the charges. *Id.* at 27. He explained that the special-verdict form would protect the government in the event that there was later found to be a grand-jury problem. *Id.* at 26; *see also* 12/22/21 Tr. 16.

The government, however, elected not to take this course. Given the court's ruling that the Alabama homicide was a separate offense, the prosecutor chose to maintain his original election of the Naylor Road homicide. 1/3/22 Tr. 28. For the AWIKs, he also stuck with his election of the Alabama Avenue shooting, despite Judge Kravitz's concern about the grand-jury issue, because "the applicability of concurrent intent specifically is more well founded" for that shooting, and "[he] consider[s] it one incident anyway." *Id*.

Based on the prosecutor's representations, Judge Kravitz concluded that "there's no reason then to have a special verdict form." *Id.* at 29. He further reasoned that not even a special-unanimity instruction was needed because "the Government at this point is curing the duplicity issue by basing [*sic*] an election." *Id.* The government did not object to this finding.

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