BRIEF FOR APPELLEE

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

No. 24-CO-362

TONY MCCLAM,

Appellant,

Appellee.

v.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA CRIMINAL DIVISION

> MATTHEW M. GRAVES United States Attorney

CHRISELLEN R. KOLB NICHOLAS P. COLEMAN MICHAEL LIEBMAN MILES JANSSEN

- * TIMOTHY R. CAHILL D.C. Bar #1032630 Assistant United States Attorneys
- Counsel for Oral Argument
 601 D Street, NW, Room 6.232
 Washington, D.C. 20530
 Timothy.Cahill@usdoj.gov
 (202) 252-6829

Cr. No. 2019-CF1-9634



Received 09/17/2024 03:25 PM Filed 09/17/2024 03:25 PM

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

When a woman's charred body has been found in a burned house, and there is ample evidence that the defendant set out to kill her, it would be absurd to set him free because six jurors believe he strangled her to death (and caused the fire accidentally in his hasty escape), while six others believe he left her unconscious and set the fire to kill her.

Id. at 650 (Scalia, J., concurring). Although this hypothetical runs afoul of McClam's contention (at 43) that juror unanimity is required as to the "specific act" that a murder defendant committed to cause the decedent's death, Justice Scalia recognized that such a rule would lead to an "absurd" result and found it "perfectly obvious" that the proper outcome would be the defendant's conviction on a single charge of murder. *Id.*

Multiple courts have applied this reasoning to real-world murder charges involving similar or analogous facts. In *Commonwealth v. Cyr*, 433 Mass. 617 (2001), the evidence showed the defendant forced his way into the victim's home, stabbed her repeatedly with a knife, then used gasoline to set her house on fire. *See id.* at 619. The court rejected the defendant's claim that the jury should have been instructed it must unanimously agree that the defendant committed the murder either by stabbing or burning, concluding that the jurors "were not required to find unanimously that the defendant killed the victim by a particular method." *Id.* at 620-23 (citing *Schad*, 501 U.S. at 649-50) (Scalia, J., concurring).⁷

In *State v. Severson*, 147 Idaho 694 (2009), the defendant claimed that a special unanimity instruction should have been given to require the jury to unanimously agree that he killed his wife by suffocating her or overdosing with her sleeping pills, since there was evidence to support both possibilities. *See id.* at 710. In rejecting this claim, the court recognized that "[t]he very nature of the crime of murder" affects the analysis for distinguishing between different means of committing the same crime and separate instances of discrete crimes. *Id.* at 711-12. The court explained, for

⁷ Justice Scalia's *Schad* hypothetical and the facts of *Cyr* are strikingly similar to *Wint v. United States*, 285 A.3d 1270 (D.C. 2022), in which the bodies of four family members were found after their house burned down. *See id.* at 1273. Evidence showed the victims "were subjected to various forms of violence, including being beaten, stabbed, [] asphyxiated, [and] doused with gasoline" over the course of two days before the house was burned with them inside. *Id.* at 1274. The defendant was convicted of four counts of murder, each corresponding to one victim. *See id.* at 1273. Based on McClam's position, the jury should have been required to unanimously agree on which of the defendant's violent acts caused each victim's death in order to cure the "duplicity" arising from each charge encompassing multiple murder "incidents." In the absence of proof beyond a reasonable doubt as to which specific act caused each victim to die, an acquittal would have been required. As Justice Scalia observed in *Schad*, such a result would be "absurd." 501 U.S. at 640.

example, that where a defendant was charged with one count of improper sexual contact with a minor encompassing six different occasions, "the prosecutor could have charged the defendant for each of the six instances," and thus jury unanimity was required as to at least one specific incident. Id. By contrast, even though the government had presented multiple factual theories as to how Severson committed the murder, he "was charged with the single act of murdering his wife." Id. at 712. See also Robinson v. Com., 325 S.W.3d 368, 369-72 (Ky. 2010) (finding no "unanimity violation" where defendant was convicted of murder despite conflicting evidence as to whether he killed his 23-month-old stepdaughter by fracturing her skull or giving her lethal doses of medication); Tabish v. State, 72 P.3d 584, 596-97 (Nev. 2003) (same, where there was conflicting evidence that the defendant caused the victim's death by suffocating him or poisoning him).

McClam's claim (at 18-19) that determining he is charged with only one murder "would permit a murder conviction even where the jury cannot unanimously agree that [he] committed any criminal act at all" is incorrect. According to McClam (at 43-44), in the absence of a duplicity ruling, he could be convicted of murder even if the jury could not unanimously agree on the location of the fatal shot and "half [the jurors] find self-defense on Naylor Road, and the other half find self-defense on Alabama Avenue." The special unanimity instruction proposed by Judge O'Keefe, however, would preclude this outcome, since it would require the jury to agree unanimously that McClam was not acting in self-defense or the defense of others at either location if the jurors could not all agree on the location of the fatal shot (3/15/24 Tr. 7-8).⁸

McClam does not acknowledge this remedy, instead suggesting (at 46 n.21) that Judge O'Keefe's plan to use any special unanimity instruction represents an implicit acknowledgement that the murder charge is, in fact, duplicitous. McClam appears to conflate the (accurate) principle that duplicity can be cured by a special unanimity instruction with the (erroneous) notion that special unanimity instructions can be given only to cure duplicitous charges. To the contrary, unanimity instructions may be appropriate where a defendant, like McClam, is charged with committing a single crime by more than one factual means,

⁸ While the government initially gave conflicting responses to this proposed special unanimity instruction, it ultimately agreed that it was appropriate (11/15/23 Tr. 18-19, 30; 3/15/24 Tr. 6). Although McClam criticizes Judge O'Keefe's proposed instruction, he does not (and cannot) suggest this Court has jurisdiction to assess a trial court's pretrial draft jury instruction on interlocutory review.

and different legal defenses are implicated for each of those means. In Brown v. United States, 542 A.2d 1231 (D.C. 1998), for example, this Court held that the trial court should have given a special unanimity instruction on a single charge of possession of marijuana, where the defendant asserted different defenses for his possession of a marijuana cigarette and marijuana in tin foils packets. See id. at 1232. This was so even in the absence of duplicity; the Court recognized that "the government could not have charged [the defendant] with more than one count of possession of marijuana" because his possession of the two different quantities was "only a single criminal offense." Id.

McClam's imaginative hypothetical (at 18, 40-41) about a supposed murder victim who is not truly dead, and a defendant wrongfully charged with his murder who has "license to commit murder with total immunity" after the victim reemerges, does not warrant a different result. First, no similar concerns are implicated in this case. McClam does not contest the fact that K.B. tragically died on July 18, 2019, as a direct result of being struck by one of the bullets McClam fired. Second, the principle that "[t]he killing of one person is but one offense of [] murder," *Byrd*, 500 A.2d at 1377, does not logically lead to the outcome that McClam proposes. In McClam's hypothetical, the initial murder charge was erroneously based on a "killing" that never occurred. Outside the strained reasoning of a Hollywood script, the later (actual) murder of the victim could not be considered based on the same "killing," even if it involved the same victim.⁹

⁹ McClam's hypothetical arises from a unique aspect of the crime of murder, which, in all its variants, has as an essential element that the defendant caused the death of the victim. See Fleming v. United States. 224 A.3d 213, 220 (D.C. 2020) (en banc). A victim's death cannot occur more than once, but it is possible (however unlikely) that a jury could erroneously conclude the victim's death occurred even when it had not. See, e.g., Paul S. Gillies, The Trials of Jesse and Stephen Boorn, 38-SUM Vt. B.J. 8 (2012) (describing infamous case of brothers convicted in 1819 of murdering a man who had disappeared but, after the brothers' trials, was later found alive in another state). The criminal process cannot entirely foreclose the possibility of such error. Cf. Speiser v. Randall, 357 U.S. 513, 525 (1958) ("There is always in litigation a margin of error, representing error in factfinding, which both parties must take into account."). If that error were discovered, however, the logical result would not be to treat the actual subsequent killing of the victim as if it were the same "killing" prosecuted in the earlier proceeding. If the first proceeding resulted in a conviction, that conviction should be vacated or otherwise treated as a legal nullity after the victim is discovered alive.

By contrast, because the causation of death is not an element of AWIK or attempted murder, there is no limit to the number of times those crimes may be committed against the same victim. Only the final, successful attempt to kill the victim, however, would merge with the offense of murder. It may be difficult as a factual matter to prove how many distinct assaults were committed against a victim found dead, and thus it often is the case that a defendant will stand convicted of one homicide charge and not multiple AWIKs. But it does not follow that, as McClam argues (at 39), it must be possible to bring multiple separate murder charges as to the same victim in order for the law to allow multiple assault charges.

Finally, McClam's argument (at 46-50) that Judge Kravitz's erroneous duplicity ruling is binding on this Court should be rejected. Regardless of the terminology Judge Kravitz used in issuing his ruling, its effect was to limit the factual theories the government could present, and the jury could consider, with respect to McClam's single charge of murder. Therefore, unlike the cases McClam relies upon involving directed verdicts and judgments of acquittal, it was not a binding "substantive ruling" as to McClam's "guilt or innocence" on a charged offense. McClam's reliance (at 41 n.17) on Evans v. Michigan, 568 U.S. 313 (2013), to argue that it does not matter that the murder "charge" on which his interlocutory claim is based does "not really exist as a separate murder" is misplaced. *Evans* held that "[a] mistaken acquittal is an acquittal nonetheless" for purposes of double jeopardy, id. at 318, even where it is based on the trial court's erroneous imposition of an "imaginary element," id. at 330 (Alito, J., dissenting). In Evans, unlike this case, there was no question that the erroneous acquittal led to the dismissal of a real (not imaginary) charged offense; indeed, it resulted in the dismissal of the entire criminal case. Here, as discussed, there is no dispute that McClam remains charged with second-degree murder and can face retrial on that charge.

C. The Collateral-Order Doctrine Does Not Provide Jurisdiction for an Interlocutory Appeal Seeking to Limit the Arguments and Theories Permitted at a Retrial.

To the extent McClam maintains that Judge Kravitz's erroneous rulings at his first trial, and the government's resulting strategic decisions, have some preclusive effect on the factual theories and arguments the government can present to the jury at his retrial, his claim sounds in collateral estoppel. See Auzenne, 30 F.4th at 462 (collateral estoppel prohibits "the introduction or argumentation of facts necessarily decided in the prior proceeding"). This Court lacks jurisdiction to address such a claim on interlocutory review. Although collateral-estoppel claims are rooted in the Double Jeopardy Clause, see id., they do not give rise to jurisdiction for an interlocutory appeal when they would only "affect the course of the trial" and would not "bar[] the ordeal of retrial" for a charged offense, United States v. Powell, 632 F.2d 754, 758 (9th Cir. 1980). See also Auzenne, 30 F.4th at 464 (when a defendant claims the government is precluded based on double jeopardy from "the introduction of any given argument or piece of evidence" at a retrial, the denial of such a claim is not subject to interlocutory review).

That is not to say that, in the event McClam is ultimately convicted at retrial of second-degree murder (or a lesser-included offense), he will have no recourse to challenge his conviction on the basis that the government relied on a factual theory he believes should have been precluded by double jeopardy. Such a claim, however, is properly addressed on direct appeal after final judgment, where "its reach and run [can] be charted with the aid of a complete record." *United States v. Mock*, 604 F.2d 336, 339 (5th Cir. 1979). *Cf. Thomas v. United States*, 79 A.3d 306 (D.C. 2013) (reviewing defendant's claim that collateral estoppel barred admittance of the evidence of an assault in his second trial only after the jury convicted at the retrial). As the Eleventh Circuit explained in *United States v. Gulledge*, 739 F.2d 582 (11th Cir. 1984):

If [the appellant] believes that the introduction of certain evidence at his second trial will constitute double jeopardy or violate any other rights, he may press the claim in the district court and on appeal after final judgment has been entered against him. Unlike the defendant in *Abney*, [he] will undergo a second trial regardless of our ruling on his motion[.]

Id. at 586. Here, there is no dispute that, regardless of the outcome of McClam's instant claim, he will face retrial on the charge of second-degree murder for his killing of K.B. Furthermore, McClam's retrial will indisputably include the presentation of evidence relating to the shots he

fired on Naylor Road and the shots he fired on Alabama Avenue including any facts that could support his claims of self-defense and the defense of others at both locations. In short, even if successful, McClam's instant claim could only impact the arguments and theories available to the government to prove the murder charge against him.

McClam's assertion (at 2 & n.1) that jurisdiction exists for his interlocutory claim so long as it is at least "colorable" should be accorded no weight. Notwithstanding this Court's apparent determination at the motion-to-dismiss that McClam's claims stage "colorably were meritorious," Order (5/28/24) at 1, interlocutory review is not available. A "colorable" double-jeopardy claim gives rise to interlocutory jurisdiction only if it could result in the "dismissal of the indictment as a whole, or, at a minimum, dismissal of any single count." Wright, 776 F.3d at 140-43; Abney, 431 U.S. at 662-63. In denying the government's motion to dismiss, this Court refrained from deciding whether the collateral-order exception provided jurisdiction because "the jurisdictional question is closely related to the merits." Order (5/28/24) at 1. As discussed, supra, McClam's duplicity claim is meritless with respect to his murder charge, and a conviction on that charge would still be possible even if McClam were able to preclude the government from arguing that the fatal shot may have been fired on Alabama Avenue. *See Jones*, 669 A.2d at 729. Where a successful interlocutory appeal on a double-jeopardy claim "could only lessen and not wholly remove the possibility of conviction and lesser associated hazards of being again tried, no constitutional, as opposed to legal, right is at stake in such a claim." *United States v. Head*, 697 F.2d 1200, 1205 (4th Cir. 1982) (citation omitted).

The government, to be clear, disputes McClam's position that there is any preclusive effect from Judge Kravitz's erroneous ruling on the special unanimity instruction as to the location of the fatal shot, or the factual theories that the government chose to present (or not present) to the jury in the wake of that ruling. For all the reasons set forth above, however, McClam's claim that the government should be estopped from arguing at retrial that the fatal shot may have been fired on Alabama Avenue is not the proper subject of an interlocutory appeal. *See United States v. Ginyard*, 511 F.3d 203, 211-12 (D.C. Cir. 2008) (dismissing double-jeopardy appeal for lack of jurisdiction where appellant did "not dispute that he may be retried for the crime that is expressly charged in [the indictment]" but contended only that "the government may not retry him on a particular theory of liability for that offense"). McClam's interlocutory appellate claim based on his murder charge should accordingly be dismissed as premature.

II. The Government Agrees That the Trial Court's Double-Jeopardy Order Related to McClam's AWIK Charges Should be Vacated.¹⁰

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